Arts and Crafts artisans’ cottages in Cranbrook	              Nick Hayward										
Church Cottages and Victoria Cottages in Carriers Lane, Cranbrook are an attractive and distinctive group of six Edwardian pairs of cottages built in 1906 and 1907, the dates evidenced by inscribed tablets on three of the six shared chimney stacks. These inscriptions also include the initials of Miss M. Neve and Mrs L.J. Macnab, who commissioned the building of the cottages which were to be 'of a good class and at a low rent', and who were sisters of the noted Arts and Crafts architect William West Neve. 

The cottages are very unusual, especially for what appear to be examples of early social housing, and particularly in the attention given to the details of the design.  Each pair has its own style: some with external porches, some internal; some with bay windows, others not; some with a jettied first floor, some not.  In common, they all have distinctive dormer windows and are almost certainly designed by the same architect.  In addition there are clear indicators of Arts and Craft influence: high gables, steep pitched roofs, dormer windows, bay windows, small paned casement windows, dominant chimney stacks and, overall, a certain asymmetry.

Internally, too, the cottages contained distinctive features when first built, particularly as to the style of the fireplaces, the use of tongue and groove wood for door and stair panels, Bakelite door handles, wooden built in cupboards and brick floors.  Much of this has been lost over the years, but No. 6 Victoria Cottages is an exception and still retains many of these original features.  
----------
The distinguished 'Arts and Crafts' architect William West Neve almost certainly influenced the cottages' design and he is most likely to have been their architect.  Conclusive evidence of this has not been established, but  there is a highly significant clue: yet another of his sisters, Ellen Maria, who had married a Scottish clergyman, John Monteith, Minister of Glencairn near Dumfries, commissioned her brother William to design an L-shaped row of cottages which were built in 1906 in the nearby village of Moniaive.  These cottages bear many similarities to Church and Victoria Cottages in their design features and also have a plaque – with her initials EMM and the year 1906. They are listed as Category C in the Scottish Listed Buildings Register.

A Cranbrook resident for most of his long life, W.W. Neve studied under Richard Norman Shaw and built a number of distinctive properties in the town, including the former Coffee House at St David’s Bridge and School Lodge in Waterloo Road.  These properties and the others for which he is best known are generally prominent, substantial buildings intended for single ownership; the modest size and scale of these six cottages is in complete contrast and enhances their architectural interest.

The land on which the properties were built was part of a larger area encompassing much of the former Rectorial Glebe lands and which was owned by William Tanner Neve , a prominent solicitor in Victorian Cranbrook and the father of William and his sisters.  In 1896 he leased Barn Field to the newly created Parish Council to provide allotments for local residents. 

W.T. Neve died in 1899 and much of his estate, including Barn Field, was put into trust. William was one of the trustees and it was in 1906 that his sisters requested that a portion of this field be relinquished to build the cottages.  An equal area of land was provided by Angley House’s Edward Tomlin, as replacement for the lost allotments.

The properties were originally marketed as artisan cottages for local workers but they were clearly of far better quality than the Victorian (and older) houses typically available at that time to the low paid townsfolk.  As well as superior construction and internal fittings they also had generous gardens.
----------

The Neve family were significant landowners in Cranbrook and held a prominent position in the town.  Mary was the eldest of William Tanner ’s seven children, of whom the first six were daughters, and was older by two years than Laura Jane; William West the architect was the youngest child and the only son.  Laura married John Macnab, a Scottish accountant and the couple lived much of their life in London, where Laura died at the age of 84.

Mary lived all her life in Cranbrook, for many years occupying Osborne Lodge which, after her death, was acquired by Cranbrook School and became Cornwallis House.  She became a substantial landowner in her own right, her properties including Church Cottages, Dane Cottages, Osborne Cottage and Ivy Cottages.  She never married and would appear to have been quite a remarkable lady, overcoming the effects of a railway accident which crippled her and necessitated the installation of a lift in Osborne Lodge, to play a full part in the activities of the town throughout her long life, dying in 1924 a few days short of her 83rd birthday.  Among her many interests in Cranbrook were the Boy Scouts and Girl Guides and the Board of Guardians.  She was also chair of the local branch of the Women’s Unionist Association – for the promotion of women’s suffrage – and on the committee of the Calcutta Diocesan Mission.

Mary and Laura had, in 1900, provided the Resurrection Window in St Dunstan’s Church in memory of their parents and the family had contributed to various local charitable causes over the years. The provision of Church and Victoria Cottages could perhaps be viewed as a continuation of their good works, and an appropriate legacy, bearing in mind the architectural skill within the family.

When the surviving sister Mrs Macnab decided to sell the cottages in 1925, the sitting tenants were able to buy them, and many did so, which appears to be quite unusual at that date.
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